IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSE PENA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC02-2411

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MR. PENA'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN

Public Defender Tenth Judicial Circuit

TERRENCE E. KEHOE

Florida Bar No. 330868 Special Assistant Public Defender P.O. Box 9000-PD Bartow, Florida 33831 863-534-4200

863-534-4355 (fax)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief the Petitioner, **JOSE PENA**, will be referred to as "Mr. Pena." The Respondent, the **STATE OF FLORIDA**, will be referred to as "the state."

The record on appeal to the Second District consisted of five volumes. That record will be referred to by the number of the volume, followed by a slash, followed by the appropriate page reference therein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves a final appeal from a judgment and sentence entered in the Circuit Court, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, Florida (trial court), which was affirmed by the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Pena v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). A copy of the Second District's opinion is attached as Appendix A.

A. <u>Trial Court Proceedings</u>:

On November 24, 1999, the state filed a one count indictment charging Mr. Pena with murder in the first degree, in violation of §782.04, Florida Statutes (1999)(I/8-9). Specifically, the indictment alleged that on or between September 9 and 10, 1999, Mr. Pena did unlawfully and feloniously kill Mirranda Fernandes while engaged in the unlawful distribution of heroin and/or MDMA, the drugs being the proximate cause of

Ms. Fernandes' death (I/8).

The case was tried before a jury on February 12-13, 2001 (I/18-20). At trial, the state presented testimony from nine witnesses, and the defense presented testimony from one. Twenty exhibits were admitted on behalf of the state (I/21). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged (I/56; IV/490). Mr. Pena was adjudicated guilty (I/58; IV/494). Mr. Pena was sentenced to the Department of Corrections for a term of natural life (I/61; IV/494).

A post-trial motion for judgment of acquittal or for a new trial (I/65-74) was denied (I/77). On March 6, 2001, Mr. Pena filed his timely notice of appeal to the Second District (I/76).

B. <u>Second District's Opinion</u>:

On October 18, 2002, the Second District, on rehearing, affirmed Mr. Pena's judgment and sentence.^{1/} <u>Pena v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). In affirming the Second District addressed four issues: 1) whether the trial court committed fundamental error in failing to instruct the jury on the age requirement for the defendant under § 782.04(1)(a)(3), and in permitting a conviction on this charge when his age was not alleged in the information; 2) whether the trial court committed

^{1/} The Second District's initial opinion, <u>Pena v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1542 (Fla. 2d DCA 7/3/02), was withdrawn.

fundamental error by failing to instruct the jury on justifiable and excusable homicide; 3) whether the trial court committed fundamental error by failing to swear the jury prior to voir dire; and 4) whether the trial court's causation instruction was error. <u>Id</u>. at 292, 295.

As to the age issue, the Second District declined to decide whether the defendant's age was an element of the offense. Instead, it held that where there was no factual dispute about age, and the defendant could not show that he was misled about the charged crime, the need for this allegation could be waived by failing to file a motion to dismiss. <u>Id</u>. at 292. It further found that there was no fundamental error in failing to instruct on the defendant's age where the undisputed evidence established that his age fulfilled the statutory requirement for this offense. <u>Id</u>. at 293. However, because there was no standard instruction for this offense and a dearth of caselaw interpreting the statute, the Second District certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IS IT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR FOR A TRIAL COURT TO OMIT AN INSTRUCTION THAT A DEFENDANT MUST BE EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER TO COMMIT DRUG-DISTRIBUTION, FIRST-DEGREE MURDER UNDER SECTION 782.04(1)(a)(3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), WHEN IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT THE DEFENDANT IS OVER EIGHTEEN?

3

<u>Id</u>. at 295.

As to the justifiable and excusable homicide instruction issue, the Second District held that failure to give this instruction was not fundamental error, in that the offense of conviction was more than one step removed from manslaughter. <u>Id</u>. at 294-

95. The Second District then certified the following issue:

IS IT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR FOR A TRIAL COURT TO OMIT INSTRUCTIONS ON EXCUSABLE AND JUSTIFIABLE HOMICIDE WHEN A DEFENDANT CHARGED CONVICTED IS AND OF DRUG-DISTRIBUTION, FIRST-DEGREE MURDER UNDER SECTION 782.04(1)(a)(3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), AND THE FACTUAL CIRCUMSTANCES DO NOT SUPPORT ANY JURY ARGUMENT RELYING UPON THE EXCUSABLE OR JUSTIFIABLE HOMICIDE **INSTRUCTIONS**?

<u>Id</u>. at 295.

As to the jury oath issue, the Second District acknowledged that it was clear from the record that the trial judge did not swear the venire. <u>Id</u>. at 293. The Second District, however, held that it was not fundamental error where the record failed to demonstrate, one way or other, whether the venire received the oath required by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.300(a). <u>Id</u>. at 293-94. The court noted, however, that the Fifth District, in <u>Martin v. State</u>, 816 So.2d 187 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>dismissed</u>, 823 So.2d 124 (Fla. 2002), had held that if the defendant had preserved the issue, the state would bear the burden of supplementing the record to establish compliance with Rule 3.300(a). Id. at 294.

Lastly, the court briefly addressed the claim that the instruction as to causation was erroneous. The Second District concluded that the trial court's instruction on causation was "adequate." <u>Id.</u> at 295. However, it suggested that the matter be considered by the Florida Supreme Court Committee on Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, because a standard jury instruction for this offense would be helpful. <u>Id</u>.

C. <u>Trial Testimony</u>

The state's primary witnesses were three friends and acquaintances of Mr. Pena and Ms. Fernandes: Bridget Spicer, Anthony Batista, and Anthony's brother Jose Batista (III/201-03). Anthony Batista testified that on September 9, 1999, he was at Mr. Pena's apartment in Tampa (III/202). Two girls - Bridget Spicer and Mirranda Fernandes - came over (III/203). The foursome began drinking alcohol and smoking marijuana (III/203-04). Later, Ms. Fernandes asked Mr. Pena for some ecstasy (III/205). Mr. Pena gave Ms. Fernandes the ecstasy (III/206). Mr. Pena also consumed ecstasy. Later that evening Ms. Spicer left and Anthony fell asleep in the bedroom (III/208). Some time later Mr. Pena woke him up, and told Anthony that he thought Ms. Fernandes was dead (III/208). Anthony saw Ms. Fernandes naked in the

tub. Her eyes were open, but he checked to see if she had a pulse and thought she was dead (III/209). The two men then clothed Ms. Fernandes and started to drive her to a hospital (III/210). As they were leaving, Anthony saw a small plate in the living room area which had a substance he believed to be heroin on it. He had seen heroin before (II/213). On the way Mr. Pena stopped the car, took Ms. Fernandes out of the car, and left her on a residential sidewalk (III/212). Anthony testified that Mr. Pena told him that he had given Ms. Fernandes 5 grams of heroin (III/215). On cross-examination Anthony admitted that ecstasy pills can often resemble aspirin, and that he did not look closely at the pills (III/217-18). Anthony admitted that he had never seen Ms. Fernandes use any heroin (III/219).

Ms. Spicer corroborated a good deal of what Anthony Batista had said. Ms. Fernandes was her friend and neighbor (III/228). On the Tuesday (September 7) before the fatal incident, she and Ms. Fernandes went over to Mr. Pena's apartment. Ms. Fernandes told Ms. Spicer that she wanted "to roll," which meant to take ecstasy (III/230). That Tuesday, Ms. Spicer drank beer and smoked marijuana, but Ms. Fernandes did not (III/231). Instead, Ms. Fernandes asked Mr. Pena for ecstasy (III/231). Mr. Pena made a phone call and someone came to the apartment (III/232). Mr. Pena bought a bag with drugs in it from that individual (III/233). Mr. Pena then offered those present cocaine, heroin, and ecstasy (III/233-34). Specifically, Mr. Pena gave Ms. Fernandes what appeared to be ecstasy (III/234).

The following afternoon, Ms. Fernandes told Ms. Spicer that she wanted to go back to the Pena apartment (III/237). The two went back on Thursday evening (III/237). Again, Ms. Spicer testified that Ms. Fernandes wanted "to roll" (III/238). From the Tuesday event to the Thursday event, Ms. Spicer was unaware of Ms. Fernandes using any drugs (III/238). As for Thursday, Ms. Spicer testified the four consumed marijuana and alcohol (III/238-39). She did not personally see Mr. Pena give Ms. Fernandes any ecstasy that evening, or give her any heroin (III/240). However, about three days later, Mr. Pena called her and told her that he had given Ms. Fernandes some heroin (III/241).

Jose Batista testified that on the first occasion everybody was drinking alcohol and (except for him) smoking marijuana (III/251-52). Mr. Pena bought ecstasy pills, which he offered to those present (III/253-54). Both Mr. Pena and Ms. Fernandes had pills, but Jose was not sure whether Ms. Fernandes actually consumed her pill (III/254). On Thursday night, the two girls were back (III/255-56). Around 2:30 in the morning, when Jose came up from the beach, he saw Ms. Fernandes lying on the floor (III/257). He heard breathing sounds coming from her (III/257). He went to bed. The next morning he woke up and went to work (III/257). He saw Mr. Pena and Ms. Fernandes in the living room (III/257-58). On a plate on the table he saw something which he believed to be heroin (III/257-58). Later that day Mr. Pena told him that Ms. Fernandes was dead (III/259).

The state also admitted into evidence tapes of two interviews of Mr. Pena by law enforcement officers (State Exhibits 20, 21; SR/601). The first tape contained an interview of Mr. Pena which occurred on the evening of Sunday, September 12, 1999 (III/269-70; State Exhibit 20; SR/601). In that interview Mr. Pena stated that the two women came over and drank and smoked marijuana (III/272). Ms. Fernandes stayed and had sex with Mr. Pena (III/272-73). On the second night the girls came over (III/274). Ms. Fernandes had two ecstasy pills and both he and she took one (III/275). Mr. Pena and Ms. Fernandes went to the hot tub, where they argued and she then left (III/280-81). Mr. Pena denied that anybody died at his house (III/283). He stated that Ms. Fernandes left and he did not know what happened to her after that (III/283-84).

The second tape contained an interview of Mr. Pena on the afternoon of September 14, 1999 (III/294; State Exhibit 21; SR/601). During the second interview, Mr. Pena stated that Ms. Fernandes came with two ecstasy pills (III/300). The two were drinking beer and smoking marijuana (III/300). They each took one ecstasy pill (III/301). Ms. Fernandes asked for heroin (III/301). Mr. Pena gave her a quarter of a gram, which she snorted (III/301-02). Mr. Pena stated that he then fell asleep

(III/302). When he woke up Ms. Fernandes was not breathing (III/302-03). He and Anthony then tried CPR, and putting her under water in the shower, but neither effort woke her (III/303). He and Anthony then put her in a car, and left her along the street (III/304-05). As to the earlier night, Mr. Pena stated that the two of them had been drinking mixed drinks, smoking marijuana, sniffing some cocaine, and taking ecstasy (III/311).

Ms. Fernandes was found on that street by a passerby (III/192-93), who then called the police (III/198). The parties stipulated that the individual found on the street was Mirranda Fernandes (IV/439).

Dr. Bernard Adams is the chief medical examiner for Hillsborough County (IV/342). Since he became a medical examiner in 1984, he has performed approximately 4,000 autopsies, hundreds of which dealt with drug overdoses (IV/343). Based upon his autopsy, and his review of the toxicology lab work, he was of the opinion that Ms. Fernandes died from intoxication from the combined effects of heroin and MDMA (IV/343, 348). In his opinion, it is possible that Ms. Fernandes died solely from heroin ingestion, solely from MDMA ingestion, or a combination of the two (IV/348-49).

Dr. Wayne Duer is the chief forensic toxicologist in the Hillsborough County Medical Examiner's Office (IV/374-75). He was accepted as an expert in the field of toxicology, without objection (IV/376-77). Dr. Duer testified that the concentration of heroin in Ms. Fernandes' heart blood was 1.91 milligrams per liter. The average amount of heroin associated with death is .4 milligrams per liter (IV/383). As for MDMA, the concentration found in her heart blood was 1.7 milligrams per liter, and that is near the average of what is found in people who have died (IV/383-84). Dr. Duer conveyed these findings to Dr. Adams, but he himself did not determine the cause of death (IV/384).

For the defense Dr. Daniel Buffington, a pharmacologist, testified (IV/398). He had reviewed the medical examiner's reports and toxicology reports, as well as police reports and other witness statements (IV/400). Dr. Buffington was of the opinion it was impossible to determine which of the seven drugs found in Ms. Fernandes was the cause of death (IV/405-11).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. MR. PENA'S CONVICTION MUST BE VACATED WHERE INDICTMENT FAILED TO ALLEGE, AND JURY WAS NOT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON, AGE ELEMENT OF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE

An essential element of the charge of murder by delivery of a controlled substance was that the defendant be 18 years of age or older. The indictment did not allege that Mr. Pena was 18 years of age or older, nor was the jury instructed that that was an essential element of the offense. Due to these errors, Mr. Pena cannot legally be convicted of murder in the first degree. His case must be remanded for a new trial on the charge of murder in the second degree.

II. FAILURE TO INSTRUCT ON EXCUSABLE AND JUSTIFIABLE HOMICIDE WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

Mr. Pena's conviction must be vacated because the trial court committed

 fundamental error in failing to instruct the jury on excusable and justifiable homicide.
 III. USE OF JURY INSTRUCTION WHICH MISLED JURY AS TO ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF MURDER DENIED MR. PENA A FAIR TRIAL

The trial court erred a) when it improperly failed to instruct the jury, over objection, that it must find the death was caused by Mr. Pena's unlawful drug distribution, and b) as to the element of causation. The primary issue in this case was that of causation. The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to properly instruct the jury on that issue, and specifically when it failed to use the defendant's proposed jury instruction on that issue. The remedy is a new trial.

IV. FAILURE TO SWEAR JURY VENIRE PRIOR TO QUESTIONING WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, REQUIRING REVERSAL

Contrary to the Second District's conclusion, the record is clear that the jury venire was not sworn prior to voir dire questioning by the trial court and both counsel. This error, which goes to foundation of the jury selection process, was fundamental error. Mr. Pena is therefore entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENTS

I. MR. PENA'S CONVICTION MUST BE VACATED WHERE INDICTMENT FAILED TO ALLEGE, AND JURY WAS NOT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON, AGE ELEMENT MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE

The Second District's first certified question must be answered in the affirmative. Because the indictment did not allege the essential "age" element of the offense of murder in the first degree by unlawful distribution of a controlled substance, and the jury was not instructed on that essential elements, Mr. Pena's conviction on that offense violates fundamental due process.

A. <u>Indictment</u>

The state attempted to charge Mr. Pena with murder in the first degree charge based upon the unlawful distribution of a controlled substance. In its entirety, the indictment reads:

COUNT ONE

The Grand Jurors of the County of Hillsborough, State of Florida, charge that **JOSE FRANCISCO PENA**, on or between the 9th day of September, 1999, and the 10th day of September, 1999, in the County of Hillsborough and State of Florida, did unlawfully and feloniously kill a human being, to-wit: **MIRRANDA FERNANDES** while engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate the unlawful distribution of Heroin and/or Methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA), a substance controlled under Florida State 893.03(1), to **MIRRANDA FERNANDES**, the said drugs being the proximate cause of the death of **MIRRANDA FERNANDES**, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided, to-wit: Florida Statute 782.04. (I/8).

Although it does not specify which portion of the murder statute - \$ 782.04 - it was proceeding under, it is now apparent that the indictment was intended to be brought under \$ 782.04(1)(a)3. That statute states that the unlawful killing of a human being is murder in the first degree when a specified controlled substance is unlawfully distributed "... by a person 18 years of age or older, when such drug is proven to be the proximate cause of the death of the user, ..." (emphasis added).

B. <u>Age is Element of Offense</u>

The Second District refused to decide if the defendant's age was an essential element of § 782.04(1)(a)3 offense.² Yet, a plain reading of the statute makes clear an essential element of this offense is that the defendant must be 18 years of age or older. While apparently no Florida appellate court has addressed this issue squarely, in Jones v. State, 360 So.2d 1293, 1298, 1299 n. 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the Third

^{2/} The only evidence of Mr. Pena's age presented to the jury was his statement on tape at the beginning of the first interview that he was "... born June 25th, 1971" (III/270).

District stated that it was necessary for conviction to show the drug had been distributed by a person 18 or over. The indictment does not allege that Mr. Pena was 18 years of age or older. It thus does not allege an offense under § 782.04(1)(a)3.

In a similar vein are cases discussing age requirements of sexual battery convictions. In <u>Baker v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the state attempted to charge the defendant with capital sexual battery, in violation of § 794.011(2), Florida Statutes (1991). This statute required the defendant to be eighteen years of age or older. However, the charging document omitted any allegation as to the defendant's age. The jury was instructed as to the age requirement. It found the defendant guilty of "Sexual Battery as charged in the Information." <u>Id</u>. at 1240. The Third District stated:

We hold that in the absence of either a specific allegation in the charging document, or a finding by the jury that the defendant is eighteen years of age or older, a conviction for capital sexual battery cannot stand.

<u>Id</u>. (footnotes omitted). The Third District therefore found the resulting conviction to be fundamental error. One of the cases it cited for that proposition was this Court's decision in <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 20 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1945), in which the Court held that taking from the jury its obligation to determine any element of the offense is a denial of due process. <u>See also, Adams v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 1st DCA 12/31/02)[28

Fla. L. Weekly D99] (in capital sexual battery case, age is element of the offense); <u>Glover v. State</u>, 815 So.2d 698 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)(in capital sexual battery case, age of defendant should be element of offense), <u>review granted</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 11/5/02; Case No. SC02-1064); <u>D'Ambrosio v. State</u>, 736 So.2d 44 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)(age of defendant is an essential element of capital sexual battery); <u>M.J.C. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 681 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (juvenile could not be convicted of capital sexual battery where he was not eighteen years of age or older at the time of the offense)^{3/}.

C. <u>Failure to Allege Age Precludes Conviction for First</u> <u>Degree Murder</u>

Under both the United States and Florida Constitutions, a fundamental right of due process which every defendant possesses is the right to notice of the nature of the accusation against him. <u>Connally v. General Construction Co.</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926); Amendments VI, XIV, United States Constitution; Article I, § 16, Florida Constitution. It is the specific charge for which a defendant has been put on notice, and it alone, that a defendant must prepare his defenses and for which

<u>3</u>/ The Second and Fourth Districts disagree with the First, Third, and Fifth Districts on this point. <u>See Winchester v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 84, 85 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), review denied, 651 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1995); Jesus v. State, 565 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)(age is sentencing factor, not element).

he may ultimately be convicted. As the United States Supreme Court stated in <u>Cole</u> <u>v. Arkansas</u>, 333 U.S. 196, 68 S.Ct. 514, 517, 92 L.Ed. 644 (1948):

> [N]o principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that notice of the specific charge, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge, if desired, are among the constitutional rights of every accused in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal.

68 S.Ct. at 517.

It is fundamental tenet of Florida and federal constitutional due process that a person may not be convicted of and sentenced for a crime for which he was not charged and tried. <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 2362-63, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); <u>Cole v. Arkansas</u>, 333 U.S. 196, 68 S.Ct. 514, 517, 92 L.Ed. 644 (1948); <u>Long v. State</u>, 92 So.2d 259, 260 (Fla. 1957); <u>Gallon v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (defendant could not be convicted of felony petit theft where crime was not charged in the information). As the United States Supreme Court stated in <u>De Jonge v. Oregon</u>, 299 U.S. 353, 57 S.Ct. 255, 259, 81 L.Ed. 278 (1937), "Conviction upon a charge not made would be sheer denial of due process." <u>See also, Ray v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 956, 959 (Fla. 1981). Mr. Pena therefore cannot be convicted of murder in the first degree, as the criminal information did not allege all of the essential elements of that offense and therefore did not place him on notice

as to that offense. The proper remedy is vacation of the judgment and sentence, and remand for a new trial on the charge of murder in the second degree.

D. <u>Failure to Instruct Jury on Age Element Precludes</u> <u>First Degree Murder Conviction</u>

Also, Mr. Pena is entitled to a new trial due to the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury on all elements of this first degree murder prosecution. Although this error was not objected to below, it constitutes fundamental error. <u>See Ray, supra;</u> Palazzolla v. State, 754 So.2d 731, 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>Dowling v. State</u>, 723 So.2d 307, 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (failure to give complete and accurate instruction, if it relates to element of charged offense, is fundamental error). <u>See also, Holcomb v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (failure to instruct on essential element of crime of sexual battery constituted fundamental error). One essential element of first degree murder by delivery of drugs - that Mr. Pena was 18 years of age or older - was not alleged in the indictment, and not submitted to the jury. The element of Mr. Pena's age was omitted from the final jury instructions (IV/464-65), and that omission has resulted in fundamental error.

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