IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSE PENA,
Petitioner,
v.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

Case No. SC02-2411

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

ERICA M. RAFFEL
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0329150
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2367
(813)801-0600
Fax (813)873-4771

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Since Petitioner was aware of the crime for which he was being charged, there was no prejudice from the indictment's failure to allege he was 18 years of age or older. Since this went unaddressed even through jury instructions, this issue has been waived.

Issue II: Petitioner was aware the State did not believe this aspect of the jury instructions were applicable, and he did not ask for a ruling from the judge on excusable and justifiable homicide, but failed entirely to make any objection. Therefore this issue has been waived.

Issue III: The trial court correctly rejected Petitioner's proposed jury instruction, as it was faulty in several respects; the trial court did instruct the jury however correctly using an instruction that was similar to the proposed one.

Issue IV: The practice in Hillsborough County is to swear the potential jurors as group in the auditorium prior to being sent into the courtroom for voir dire.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

**THE INDICTMENT GAVE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT
NOTICE OF THE CHARGE AND THE INSTRUCTIONS
GIVEN WERE APPROPRIATE.**

(RESTATED)

The defense in this case was causation and resolution of this issue is very fact specific to this particular record because there was no dispute over the Petitioner's age because it would not have helped him ... he was close to thirty. Therefore there could not have been an argument on failure of proof and no jury would or could have found him to be under the statutory age. Therefore the Second District Court of Appeal has correctly resolved this issue.

A. INDICTMENT; ALLEGATION OF AGE.

Petitioner claims the indictment failed to allege he was over 18 years of age, but then went on to state in his initial brief before the Second District Court of Appeal:

"... it is clear the indictment was brought under § 782.04(1)(a)3."

He now has changed that statement before this Court to:

"... it is now apparent that the indictment was intended to be brought under § 782.04(1)(a)3."

(See Brief of Petitioner at p. 13).

The change in wording is somewhat disingenuous since Petitioner never argued before that he was unaware of which

provision he was charged with violating, and appears only to be changed in order to create a previously nonexistent assertion or to try to lay a predicate here for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim (which would have no merit because there was no prejudice).

Since it is clear Petitioner was aware of the provision under which he was charged and knew of this oversight, the indictment was subject to a motion to dismiss. Failing to so move, Petitioner waived this "defect" by entering a plea. Petitioner did not allege a failure of proof before the Second District Court of Appeal; there he argued ... merely a failure of allegation. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(b) provides:

(b) Motion to Dismiss; Grounds.

All defenses available to a defendant by plea, other than not guilty, shall be made only by a motion to dismiss the indictment or information whether the same shall relate to matter of form, substance, former acquittal, former jeopardy, or any other defense.

Section 3.190(c) provides in pertinent part:

(c) Time for Moving to Dismiss.

Unless the court grants further time, the defendant shall move to dismiss the indictment or information either before or upon arraignment.... Except on objections based on fundamental grounds, every ground for a motion to dismiss that is not presented by a motion to dismiss within the time hereinabove provided for shall be taken

to have been waived.

Further, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(o) provides:

(o) Defects and Variances.

No indictment or information, or any count thereof, shall be dismissed or judgment arrested, or new trial granted on account of any defect in the form of the indictment or information or of misjoinder of offenses or for any cause whatsoever, unless the court should be of the opinion that the indictment or information is so vague, indistinct, and indefinite as to mislead the accused and embarrass him or her in the preparation of a defense or expose the accused after conviction or acquittal to substantial danger of a new prosecution of the same offense.

Since the purpose of an information or indictment is to place a defendant on notice of the charge, and Petitioner admitted before the Second District Court of Appeal that he knew what statutory provision he was charged with violating (it was in the charging document), to allow this to be resolved in his favor is nothing but an ambush. Mr. Pena now adds to his brief before this Court "It does not allege an offense under § 782.04(1)(a)3)." (See Brief of Petitioner at p. 14). Fla. R. Crim. Proc. 3.190(b) and (c) squarely address what remedies were available; since there was no prejudice, prudent trial counsel apparently chose not to challenge an omission, when the substance was obviously known. Petitioner attempts to compare this case to a capital sex battery but even a brief review of

such cases such as M.J.C. v. State, 681 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) where the court held that a juvenile not yet 18 cannot be convicted of capital sex battery establishes the correctness of the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case: "From a functional standpoint, such an age requirement for a defendant simply limits an offense to an adult offense and not a crime supporting an adjudication of juvenile delinquency." Pena v. State, 829 So.2d 289, 292 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). Petitioner's age is not nor can it be considered part of the act (or intent) required for a conviction under this statute.

B. JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

Because Petitioner knew what statutory provision he was charged with violating and made no attempt to move to dismiss the indictment on that basis before trial or request the jury be instructed on the element of age or object to the court's failure to do so, this issue has been waived. The waiver is based upon his own knowledge. Petitioner can not be allowed to concede he knew what he was charged with and ignore the rules of procedure to ambush the State with an appellate issue thereafter either on the allegation, or the instructions, or to now alter the wording of his argument before this Court from that before the Second District Court of Appeal from "it is clear the indictment was brought under § 782.04(1)(a)(3)" to "it is now

apparent that the indictment was intended to be brought under §782.04(1)(a)(3)." Petitioner's new reliance on Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) is misplaced because Petitioner's age is not a factor that would increase the penalty of the crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum; without the allegation, proof or instruction on this case, on this record there is no difference unless Petitioner is claiming he is in fact under the age of 18.

ISSUE II

**WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO
INSTRUCT ON EXCUSABLE AND JUSTIFIABLE
HOMICIDE WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.**

(RESTATED)

The trial court instructed counsel for Petitioner to get together with the prosecutor and tell him what standard instructions Petitioner wanted. It was therefore left to the Petitioner to advise the State and ultimately the court which instructions he wanted and to then bring this to the court's attention. If he opposed and/or objected the State's assertion to the trial court that the introduction to murder with the excusable and justifiable homicide instruction should not be given, he should have said so and objected both before and after the charge. Since Petitioner concedes he did not object to this failure below, he has waived this issue entirely.

The State recognizes the usual necessity of giving such an

instruction but cannot find any authority or caselaw addressing its mandatory inclusion when the charge is predicated on distribution of heroin and ecstasy, and would therefore assert any error is harmless under the facts of this case and the nature of the charge. Since the Petitioner agreed to the "lessers" the State was going to have prepared based on Petitioner's request (R. 160), and no objection was made after the jury was instructed, this issue has not been preserved for review.

Petitioner now relies on Tamayo v. State, 237 So.2d 251 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). But there, the defendant admitted the crime, and the entire defense to the first degree murder was that it was justifiable and excusable. The instruction read to the jury in Tamayo indicated this should only be considered a defense to manslaughter. The Third District Court of Appeal said it is incumbent upon a judge to instruct the jury as to the law "applicable to the case." Id. at 237 and emphasis added. Obviously if the defense was that the murder was committed by Tamayo but that it was justifiable and excusable, instruction on the law "applicable to the case" was not given. This is not the defense in the instant case so reliance on Tamayo is misplaced.

It appears the only time a justifiable and excusable homicide instruction need be given in a case of this nature would be when the defendant is either a doctor or an individual

under a mistaken belief of what the substance was; not in a case where the evidence established the heroin was given to the victim to encourage sexual activity.

ISSUE III

**THE PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION WAS PROPERLY
REJECTED AND THE INSTRUCTION READ IN LIEU
THEREOF WAS APPROPRIATE.**

(RESTATED)

First, the State disagrees with Petitioner's assertion that this court's standard of review for the issue presented is de novo. That standard would be applicable only if the Petitioner argued that the instruction given was unconstitutional or an incorrect statement of the law. A trial court's decision as to either giving or rejecting a proposed instruction is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard, Bozeman v. State, 714 So. 2d 570, 572 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), and the court has wide discretion in instructing the jury. James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997).

The instruction read by the trial court mirrors the proposed instruction save for the "but-for" portion (but for Jose Pena's unlawful distribution of heroin or MDMA or both, the death Miranda Fernandes would not have occurred), and the definition of "distribute". The trial court did, just as in the proposed instruction, define proximate cause. The trial court also instructed "...the death of Miranda Fernandes was proximately caused by the criminal act or agency of Jose Pena", and Petitioner asked it be read as "...the death of Miranda Fernandes was proximately caused by the unlawful distribution of heroin or MDMA or both", without reference to the Petitioner.

In this last difference, this portion of the proposed instruction would have allowed the jury to consider Petitioner's guilt if the substance was distributed by someone else! The trial court, did thereafter define deliver: "deliver or delivery means the actual constructive or attempted transfer from one person to another of a controlled substance whether or not there is an agency relationship." (R. 470).

The defense in the instant case was that perhaps Petitioner thought the substance was heroin, but perhaps in fact it was not; in closing argument, completely ignoring Petitioner's confession, counsel suggested it might have been sand. A further defense was that morphine and codeine were also found in Miranda's system. This seems to suggest that perhaps she died of a combination of other drugs despite the fact that the expert opinion submitted by the State at trial clearly indicated that heroin will break down in the body into both morphine and codeine.

In Petitioner's own brief, quoting Eversley v. State, 748 So. 2d 963, 966 (Fla. 1999), he states "in those rare circumstances where two causes, each alone sufficient to bring about the harmful result, operate together to cause it, the 'but for' becomes impossible to prove." Therefore by Petitioner's own defense, the very testimony he now urges the jury should have been instructed on has been conceded in his own brief to be

impossible to prove. Respondent would urge in light of the evidence in this case as well as the Petitioner's confession which was played before the jury, the instruction given was proper and no error has been shown.

ISSUE IV

ALTHOUGH UNPRESERVED FOR REVIEW, THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO PERSONALLY SWEAR THE JURY VENIRE PRIOR TO VOIR DIRE WAS NOT ERROR SINCE THE JURORS WERE COLLECTIVELY SWORN BY THE CLERK IN THE JURY ROOM.

(RESTATED)

It is the practice in Hillsborough County for a clerk who can administer oaths to swear the potential jurors in before they are called to the courtroom for voir dire. Although the instant record does not and can not contain this, the Hillsborough County Clerk's office attests to this fact.

In Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 1995), this Court held it is not improper for a deputy clerk to swear the jurors in prior to voir dire, id. at 660, and Petitioner has failed to show any prejudice from this practice.

Further, Petitioner acknowledges he made no objection in this regard prior to the court swearing the jury in at the conclusion of voir dire. Obviously, had he made such an objection, the clerk would have been able to report to the courtroom to advise whether they had been sworn in in the auditorium. In Geibel v. State, 795 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 3d DCA

2001), the court held that issues that arise during voir dire are unpreserved if not raised before the trial court swears the jury in.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court approve the opinion of the lower court.